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This book is in memory of my former Queensland Rugby League colleagues Ross Livermore and Mike ‘Higgo’ Higgison, two men who walked different paths, had very different views and possessed wildly different strengths and weaknesses to their characters. 


Regardless, they were united in their passion for Queensland and rugby league. That juxtaposition embodies what is to follow.
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FOREWORD


Rugby league is not a game for the faint of heart; it will continually and completely lay bare the strength of your constitution. Few other pursuits have the same capacity to make heroes of participants in one moment then throw doubt on their courage and conviction within the blink of an eye. Of course, the opposite also applies: I like to think the sport offers more chances at redemption than it does humiliation.


The relentless and rapacious nature of rugby league requires a special sort of aptitude to be mastered, and it is in discovering and achieving the steps to this mastery that many secrets to a happy and fulfilling life are uncovered. It is one thing to read of parables from a children’s book and another thing to learn them in the flesh, with clear and present dangers to your reputation and physical well-being.


If you have minimal knowledge of rugby league or the geographic or sociopolitical history of Queensland or Australia you’ll discover truisms that transpose across all areas of life. You’ll read of experiences, both shocking and heart-warming, that will undoubtedly resonate with challenges you or your loved ones have faced. You don’t need to be a lover of sports to gain value from the tales within; if you’re a parent, an aspiring leader or a person seeking guidance of some form there are ways you will benefit from reading The Maroons.


Ultimately, it’s a chronicle of human resilience and the indomitable spirit in stopping for nothing to achieve a goal.


Naturally, if you are a fan of rugby league or State of Origin you don’t need an explanation to understand the depths of desire that need to be plunged in order to become a Maroon, nor do I have to explain what the annual contest means to the identity of the state as a whole. It is unifying, edifying and exulting all at once.


The interstate contest has flourished well beyond what even I expected as coach of the first Queensland State of Origin team in 1980. Of course, we had high hopes the concept would capture the public’s attention, but it has grown to symbolise so much more about where we live, where our hearts lie, the communities we belong to and the individual fortitude we each possess.


I would very much like to acknowledge that Queensland versus New South Wales has been a war waged on rugby league fields and in our hearts and minds since the early 1900s, and although State of Origin best embodies that contest we owe a debt to those that dug the well. Playing, coaching and administering rugby league has led me to encounter some truly inspiring people. 


John McDonald AM


Inaugural Queensland State of Origin coach; Queensland, New South Wales and Australian representative player; past chairman of Queensland Rugby League, Australian Rugby League and the Rugby League International Federation  (pictured below left)
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INTRODUCTION


This is not a rugby league book. It’s a book about the children of fruit pickers, butchers, military personnel, truckers and railway workers. It’s the story of kids who were told they weren’t good enough, and the story of those always destined for greatness. It’s about boys raised with the best of values and the brutal revelations of those denied a moral compass.


This book talks about the children of model citizens, yet it also provides a voice to those orphaned, adopted, abandoned and abused.


You’ll find cities and towns in this book with a reputation for punching above their weight – Mackay, Mount Isa, Roma, Innisfail and Rockhampton to name a few – but you’ll also read about parts of Queensland you’ve likely never visited: Tannymorel, Thangool, Yam Island and Mingela. You’ll discover surprising bloodlines that hark back to the Caribbean, to Northern Ireland, to China, South America, to tiny islands in the Pacific and outcrops in the Mediterranean.


There are poignant history lessons about conflicts you’ve never heard of, about living conditions that were deplorable, about cultures and the way the world came to be as it is. Parts of this book will make you uncomfortable, saddened, regretful and shocked. Mostly, though, you’re going to be inspired by the fact that all these children, regardless of their background, were able to achieve their dream. They scaled obstacles by different means and had different motivations, but they all made it.


I guess it is a rugby league book after all. I hope you enjoy it.


Robert Burgin
September 2021


‘During the 1950s and 1960s maternity wards all over Queensland echoed to the lusty cries of infant boys who would grow to manhood and wreak vengeance on the Blues.’ 


– Jack Gallaway, Origin: Rugby league’s greatest contest 1980-2002











FOG 1. ARTHUR BEETSON: 
THE ORIGINAL INSPIRATION


One Origin: 1980





‘Arthur’s brother told him every time a stranger’s car came to their house their mum would hide the kids for fear of being stolen.’ These words, spoken by Senator Lee Rhiannon in Australia’s federal parliament provide an indication of the extent and legacy of Beetson’s amazing life. The son of an Indigenous mother forcibly removed from her family at the age of 11, Beetson went on to become the first athlete from an Aboriginal background to captain Australia in a major sporting code.


After Arthur’s death in 2011, Senator Rhiannon put the details of his upbringing on national record: ‘His mum, Marie, was taken away as an 11 year old and used as a domestic [servant]. She was part of the stolen generation. Marie always thought that their way out of disadvantage was getting a good education. She also told young Arthur, “It doesn’t matter what they call you, unless they call you late for breakfast.”’


The last remark was in reference to the racial abuse that abounded when Beetson was growing up in Roma, in the Queensland agricultural region known as the Darling Downs. ‘We always had to defend ourselves,’ Beetson once said.


Known widely as ‘Artie’, Beetson fought for the Darling Downs light heavyweight boxing championship at the age of 16, when he was working as a postman and later a post office clerk. His father, Bill, cut down trees to supply the local power station in the days before coal, carrying a reputation as a tough customer.


‘Bill was a hard man and Dad took after him,’ Arthur’s son Brad told AthletesVoice. ‘He didn’t ask for favours from anyone. He knew talent was nothing without dedication. And he was stubborn. He had to be to get where he did. There were parts of Roma that Indigenous people weren’t permitted to enter.’


Signed from Roma by the Redcliffe Dolphins as a skinny teenager, Beetson bulked up significantly in the years that followed and was named Redcliffe’s best when they won the 1965 premiership. On the way home from training he would regularly stop at Deagon Fish Shop to buy a pound of prawns and a serve of hot chips to sustain him, according to Steve Ricketts’s book Maroon Memories.


He went on to establish a career as a forward made of equal parts skill and aggression, often referred to as the sport’s premier forward in the post–Second World War era. ‘Indigenous people weren’t counted among the Australian population until 1967,’ son Brad recalled. ‘When you stop and think about an Indigenous man being named Australian captain in 1973, it has to be up there with the most significant sporting and social achievements in our country’s history. Dad showed his generation what was possible. And he opened the door for future generations.’


Beetson was in the twilight of his career when the State of Origin concept was born, and had been living outside Queensland for 15 years by then on account of professional opportunities in Sydney. However, his passion for the Maroons was evident as he returned to captain his birth state to an emotive triumph in 1980. He was also set to play the 1981 State of Origin, having returned to live in Queensland and play a swan-song season for Redcliffe, but he was injured in a club fixture. Nonetheless, he coached Queensland in Origin 16 times and coached Australia on two occasions.


His greatest legacy before his death was in Indigenous mentoring, health and advocacy. He died aged 66 of heart failure in 2011, on the day he was due to chaperone 400 young Indigenous children at a FOGS (former Origin greats) Queensland program named ARTIE (Achieving Results Through Indigenous Education) in his honour. Throughout The Maroons no other figure is more readily referenced by Queensland’s players as an influence on their own careers. 


Notes: the FOGs bestowed the number 1 on Beetson as captain of the first Origin team. Subsequent numbers for the inaugural team were decided by the jersey worn; that is, Colin Scott wore jersey 1 so he became FOG 2, Kerry Boustead became FOG 3 and so on. All subsequent players were numbered by the order in which they appeared or by position if several players debuted together. The rules of eligibility to represent Queensland and NSW have a degree of elasticity about them, but traditionally players represented the state where they played their first senior football. This has since become more defined so that overseas players must have lived in the state prior to their 13th birthday. For players born in Australia, the current decision is based on birthplace, where the majority of their junior football was played, their school, the first state they represented as a child, whether they played school representative football and whether their father represented either state.











FOG 2. COLIN SCOTT: 
A SEARCH FOR IDENTITY


Seventeen Origins: 1980-87





An Aboriginal foster child raised by a non-Indigenous family, Scott had an upbringing that intersected poignantly with the tale of inaugural Origin skipper Arthur Beetson (FOG 1). In that historic first Origin match Scott was aged only 20 and at the dawn of his career, while the eminent Beetson was 35 and approaching retirement. When Scott entered Origin camp in 1980 and discovered Beetson already knew his name he couldn’t contain his excitement. He went outside to find a phone box and contacted his foster mum to tell her ‘Big Artie’ had called him ‘Scotty’.


Scott’s birth mother Hilda gave him up for adoption when he was six months old. He was born in Charters Towers but was living in outback Cloncurry when he was fostered to a close family friend, Rose Caddies. Hilda already had three children at that stage and found the strain unmanageable, but foster mum Rose Caddies was raising five other children on her own. They moved to Townsville and lived in a variety of Housing Commission homes.


‘I held the record at school for the most days wagged [truanted] in a row,’ Scott laughed. ‘It’s funny, but when I was on school holidays I was sent to visit this lady all the time. It wasn’t until I was 10 or 11 I asked my foster mother why I had to go there. That’s when she said, “That’s your mother,” and I said to her, “But I thought you were my mum.” From there, it just became a normal thing.’


Scott was dismissive about the extent of hardship he faced. He recalled being ambushed by police officers in his home on one occasion and being whipped by his adoptive mother with the cord of a clothes iron as punishment for truancy and other misdemeanours. However, he said the incidents taught him the discipline he was lacking.


He also refused to dwell too much on his disconnection to his Indigenous past. ‘Arthur [Beetson] and I spoke a lot about the situation . . . the stolen generation and everything,’ Scott said. ‘Then it just got to a point where Arthur said, “At the end of the day we’re all Australian.” If anything, my background has taught me to have a lot of respect for non-Indigenous members of society that try to help.’


Scott grew up in Townsville with good friends Gene Miles (FOG 28) and Terry Butler (FOG 39) and was into boxing before rugby league. He won three North Queensland titles as a boxer and idolised Lionel Rose and Muhammad Ali. ‘My trainer said I could have won an Australian title if I’d stuck at it, but I guess we’ll never know,’ said Scott.


A Canterbury Bulldogs supporter, he became obsessed with rugby league and considered junior coach Merv Keys and senior coach Des Morris to be his fathers: ‘Sport sculpted my life. My coaches became my mentors and helped me be where I wanted to be.’ Scott told Joel Gould of nrl.com that he had never established who his father was: ‘On my birth certificate it says “father unknown”. I never got around to talking to Mum about it. At the back end of my playing career I said, “Mum, I want to find out who my father is and I am coming up next month.” She said that was okay. I went up there and she went into hospital and passed away, so I didn’t get an opportunity to ask her who it was.’


Stunningly, Scott made his Origin debut after being selected from reserve grade with Easts Tigers in a season during which there was conjecture over the departure of coach Des Morris, to whom Scott was loyal. The livewire ball runner later went on to become a mainstay of Wynnum Manly’s success of the 1980s.


Scott had no firm proof to confirm either way whether he was related to Sam Backo (FOG 56), whose mother was the late Evelyn Scott. ‘I’ve always been curious to know. There must be some sort of connection there. It’s certainly of interest to me,’ he said.











FOG 3. KERRY BOUSTEAD: 
FROM CANE FARM TO CANE TOAD


Six Origins: 1980, 1982 and 1984





Boustead grew up on the sugar cane farm at Silkwood, which is between Innisfail and Mission Beach in North Queensland, his great-grandfather developed in 1912. There was a lengthy history of pioneering and daring in the Boustead bloodlines that traced back to the mid-1800s, when Boustead’s ancestors migrated from Scotland to Australia via England to work the land.


Young Kerry was raised in a family steeped in sports, with his grandfather Walter and father Dick both noted rugby league five-eighths. Although the Bousteads are now most commonly associated with Innisfail, Dick played Foley Shield for Tully. Kerry’s older brother Ian represented Queensland in 1976 in the pre-Origin period, two years before Kerry followed suit at age 18. ‘Dad was in the first XV at Brisbane Grammar School, where he was a boarder in the 1940s,’ Ian told Queensland rugby league historian Greg Shannon. ‘He played five-eighth, so everything he taught us was based around that position. Kerry and I played five-eighth or centre a lot as kids.’


Ian was picked to represent North Queensland’s men’s team while at high school, while Kerry became Australia’s youngest Test player in 67 years when he was selected in 1978. Kerry played with Ron Slater, the father of Billy Slater (FOG 142) and captain-coach of Innisfail Souths, when he was 17.


Boustead’s career is a snapshot of how muddled the rugby league representative system was in the years before State of Origin became a regular series. He played three games for Queensland in 1978 and then six games for New South Wales between 1979 and 1981 on residency grounds. Amazingly, in the year 1980 he played for both states – a similar predicament to the likes of Rod Reddy, Rod Morris and John Lang that year and John Ribot de Bresac and Paul McCabe in 1981 – on account of the different eligibility rules for State of Origin games and regular interstate matches.











FOG 4. MAL MENINGA: 
A LEGACY OF DARING


Thirty-two Origins: 1980-86 and 1989-94





Meninga’s upbringing speaks volumes about the intricacies, upheaval and eclectic nature of Queensland’s population growth since European settlement. Often mistaken for being Indigenous, Meninga traced his father’s lineage back to Tanna Island in Vanuatu. Meninga’s great-grandfather swam out to sea in 1889 in order to climb aboard a ship bound for Maryborough.


Prior to that, Meninga feared his ancestors were tricked into coming to Queensland to work on plantations, as was the case for many South Sea Islander settlers of his generation. ‘[My great-grandfather] was obviously a man of adventure,’ Meninga told veteran journalist Wayne Heming. ‘It makes me proud he had the courage to do what he did, to jump into the water and swim out to the boat with a few mates because he clearly wanted to go on a new adventure. He was brave and he had the fortitude, the will and the adventure in him to forge his own life. I’m a reflection of that and my dad was a reflection of that.’


Mal was born in Bundaberg, 100 kilometres north of Maryborough, 71 years after his ancestor’s odyssey. His father, Norm, was a fabled rugby league prop and coach born in Hervey Bay, while his mother Leona was a sprinter from Wondai. ‘He was a black man married to a white woman when such things weren’t heard of in rural Queensland,’ wrote journalist Grantlee Kieza in The Courier-Mail.


It’s interesting to note that Meninga, who would one day become one of Queensland’s most devastating players and its most successful coach, spent so much of his infancy in rural locations that now struggle to field rugby league teams. He first played rugby league at Monto around the time his father was captain-coach of the Thangool Possums, and it’s clear how much he absorbed from his father: ‘The way my father approached rugby league and life in general inspired people. He was very respected as a player, but also as a person interested in the places where we lived. He was always trying to set up junior teams and teach kids how to play. The way he conducted himself helped break down a lot of prejudices.’


An accident at a sawmill prematurely ended Norm Meninga’s playing career, forcing him to have an artificial valve fitted in his heart. The family subsequently moved to a caravan park at Maroochydore on the Sunshine Coast. Mal noticed his father change from somebody who was full of life and capable of playing the violin, guitar, bugle and trumpet to a man full of anger and resentment: ‘He became bored and thought he was useless and took it out on his own family,’ Mal said in John MacDonald’s biography Meninga. ‘He just couldn’t handle it and started drinking fairly heavily and got very abusive. It was hard when you came home from school and found your dad trying to strangle your mum. We had to call the police to settle him down. You knew it wasn’t him . . . he just couldn’t cope with his situation anymore.’


Norm died prematurely, aged 47, in 1982 but not before he witnessed the eldest of his four sons stride onto Lang Park for the inaugural Origin game in 1980. Mal turned 20 on the day of the first Origin match, kicking seven goals from seven attempts in a 20-10 result in which both teams scored two tries. By that stage Mal had already been in the police system for five years, then he encountered Wayne Bennett, who later became his coach at several levels.


Meninga told Kylie Knight from Quest Comunity Newspapers in 2018 that his greatest accomplishment was fulfilling his potential: ‘When I look back there’s nothing I wanted to achieve that I didn’t.’ Aside from his 32 Origin matches as a player, Meninga represented Queensland in seven non-Origin games and played 46 Tests for Australia, including two World Cup campaigns. As a coach he later inspired Queensland to 20 wins in 30 games during a remarkable tenure from 2006 to 2015, along with coaching Papua New Guinea and Australia.











FOG 5. CHRIS CLOSE: 
THE SON OF EARTHQUAKE


Nine Origins: 1980-81 and 1983-86





With a mum nicknamed ‘Earthquake’ was there ever any doubt Chris ‘Choppy’ Close would become a larger than life character? Close recalled how his mother Irma stood out from the crowd back in the days when women were still largely expected to be reserved and gentle: ‘Mum was boisterous, loud, assertive, very funny. She attracted a crowd wherever she went and I remember her always being very vocal on the sidelines. She wasn’t the sort of person to be aggressive to others, but she was well built and definitely a unique character, one that probably deserves a book of her own.’


By comparison his father Frank was more reserved, but as a policeman he was also a strong and purposeful individual. Close’s parents met on a blind date at Coolangatta when Irma was nursing and Frank was completing his formative years in the police force. His father’s work obligations saw the family move frequently around the state after Chris was born in Rockhampton, the third of four children.


From Rockhampton they relocated south to Hervey Bay when Chris was four and then out to Proston when Chris was seven, where he played junior football for the Wondai Wolves. At age 12 Chris’s family shifted down to Beaudesert on the Gold Coast hinterland, where he made a succession of representative teams including playing in the halves alongside Wally Lewis (FOG 9) in the Brisbane U15s rep side.


‘Dad resigned from the police force and bought a pub in Cunnamulla [800 kilometres west in one of Queensland’s most remote corners]. The previous owner of the pub was ex-Penrith coach Leo Trevena,’ Close recalled. ‘Dad knew how to drink beer but not necessarily how to run a pub. I went out to help him set up, with no intention of ever staying, but the president, secretary and treasurer of the Cunnamulla Rams club just happened to be drinking there.


‘At the time I was signed for $1,000 a season to continue with Beaudesert, which was quite a bit in 1978. The Cunnamulla committee asked how much my contract was worth and, thinking this was a chance to be entrepreneurial, I told them I was on $1,500. They came back with an offer of $2,000 and I thought: “How good is this, I’ve doubled my money without playing a game.”’


As it eventuated, that season Close scored more than 50 tries for Cunnamulla and the town won its first premiership in two decades. The exact number of tries he scored has fluctuated over the years: many records indicate it was 52 tries, while other anecdotes say it was 58. It’s clear from interviews from the 1980s that Close was one of the first people to grasp the pageantry and cultural permeation State of Origin was capable of achieving. Many doubted the concept but he read it like a crystal ball, becoming entrenched in Origin folklore with his bull-at-a-gate playing style and colourful manner.


However, his jocular, expressive style could perhaps lull people to overlook the traits that drove him to succeed at the highest level: ‘I knew very early what I wanted to do in life. I didn’t wait for people to provide things. I just went out and made it happen,’ Close said. ‘I have always liked to be a busy person; I perish the thought of ever retiring. Saying that, I have always been very particular about what I choose to spend my time on, and that hasn’t changed.’


After retiring from playing Close was the Maroons’ manager for 12 years, providing almost as many highlights in that role as he did while pulling on the boots.











FOG 6. BRAD BACKER: 
FROM BOATYARD TO BELTING BLUES


Three Origins: 1980-82





The fact that Backer grew up working at a shipyard in Maryborough from the age of 15 is another of the coincidental links that bind members of the first Origin team, with teammate Mal Meninga’s (FOG 4) ancestor arriving in Australia via a boat that docked at Maryborough. 


‘I’m not sure how people nowadays would deal with the shenanigans of a shipyard in 1972,’ Backer said.


‘You weren’t given much latitude and there was an element of taking advantage of younger kids . . . things like initiations. But it did provide an easy transition to senior football. You were already used to dealing with blokes of that age and being in that environment. A lot of guys you worked with ended up being teammates, so there was a camaraderie.’


Amazingly, Backer’s maternal great-uncle Joe Concannon represented Queensland way back in 1911. The Concannons were a famed league family, so even though Backer’s father Eric played hockey and mother Joan enjoyed darts and netball, the league gene was strong. Eric ran a haberdashery business, Browns Silk Store, something that wouldn’t sound amiss in a book by another famous Maryborough product, Pamela Lyndon Travers, the author of Mary Poppins.


Brad had vivid memories of lying on the floor of his childhood home and listening to pre-Origin games between Queensland and New South Wales on the radio: ‘Because it formed in your imagination, it was very personal. Even though Queensland copped a flogging, you still dreamed of representing your state.’ Backer revealed that his childhood heroes included Graeme Langlands, Arthur Beetson (FOG 1), John Lang (FOG 12) and Des Morris, most of whom he got to play alongside.


During his teens Backer suffered a major setback when he was training on a wet field and dived for a ball, only to feel instant pain in his leg. He discovered a metal peg had sliced him deeply around the knee, with the injury ending up causing ongoing issues he had to overcome.











FOG 7. ALAN SMITH: 
THE PRODUCT OF A PROUD CITY


One Origin: 1980





A keen sense of history and respect for where he grew up defined the attitude of Toowoomba-raised playmaker Alan Smith. As an 11 year old Smith was starstruck when local heroes such as John ‘Cracker’ McDonald (later the first Queensland Origin coach) suited up for Toowoomba to play Great Britain.


 ‘I went to Toowoomba East State School, right opposite Athletic Oval [now Clive Berghofer Stadium] where that match was played,’ Smith said. ‘I have vivid memories of that game. It inspired me. Toowoomba was a very proud city. There was a lot of history and tradition to rugby league and what it meant to the city. There was a winning culture. You could be sure Toowoomba teams were always competitive. There were great coaches around in those days and there was no rubbish or carry-on. You just focused on what you needed to do to win.’


Both of Alan’s parents were keen athletes, particularly his father, Joe. ‘Dad was one of the founding fathers of basketball in Toowoomba,’ Smith recalled. ‘He and his brothers helped set up Eagles basketball club and got the competition going in the late 1940s and 1950s. He played a little rugby league, but basketball was his game. He’d drag me to the basketball court at 5 am to shoot around when I was a kid.’ Smith’s mother Gloria played hockey, vigoro and basketball. Joe worked at the now heritage-listed Toowoomba Foundry, while Gloria worked in administration for the Returned Services League.


One of Smith’s playmates was Wayne Lindenberg, who was unlucky never to play Origin despite a distinguished career that saw him represent Queensland five times. Smith and Lindenberg played together for Queensland in game two of the 1979 series, one year before Origin began. ‘We’d played cricket and footy together in the backyard a lot as kids,’ Smith recalled.


Smith scored four tries in one game in 1979 for Queensland and later became a Queensland and Australian selector.











FOG 8. GREG OLIPHANT: 
THE PUGILISTIC PLAYMAKER


One Origin: 1980





Aside from mowing lawns and running errands, Oliphant’s main income as a kid was fighting for Jimmy Sharman’s famed boxing troupe for 30 shillings a bout. The son of sailor and welterweight boxer Jack Oliphant, Greg learned to hold his fists at a young age: ‘Dad was on HMAS Quiberon during the Second World War and sailed around the world,’ Oliphant said. ‘His own father died when he was 10, so he raised his younger siblings. As you could expect he was hard, but [he was] fair. He’d played rugby league growing up, and also played first grade for Morningside Australian rules football club.’


Greg’s mother Gem was born in outback town Alpha and met Jack at a war-time dance. ‘I remember going to see Dad march in ANZAC parades,’ Greg recalled. ‘You’re not celebrating war; you’re acknowledging the sacrifices of those who served.’


Greg attended Windsor State School and made the Queensland U12s. He layed his first club football for Wests Panthers juniors, then at Gilbert Park and where the Brisbane Broncos clubhouse now stands.


Among Oliphant’s mentors was former Queensland hooker and Australian squad member Bob Gehrke, who took him to the Brisbane Exhibition Ground to watch rugby league and boxing. ‘On one hand I was an altar boy who went to church every Sunday,’ Oliphant said. ‘On the other hand I was a knockabout bloke who got the strap plenty of times. We nearly got locked up, nearly got sent to Westbrook [a state-run boys’ reformatory]. One day we crept into a lady’s home, raided her fridge and got into trouble. There were a few things like that.’


Oliphant had a long-running duel with New South Wales half Tommy Raudonikis. The two once held a charity bout that Raudonikis won after Oliphant controversially suffered a cut above his eye.











FOG 9. WALLY LEWIS: 
THE AMATEUR WHO BECAME A KING


Thirty-one Origins: 1980-91





An inimitable talent many swear was the greatest they ever witnessed was once prepared to play A grade for nothing: ‘Teenage lock Wally Lewis’s three-try debut for Valleys against Norths last Sunday did not earn him a cent,’ Rugby League Week reported on 15 April 1978.


While it may seem insane in hindsight, Lewis had sound reasoning behind his apparent generosity: at the time he was coming off a tour with the Australian Schoolboys rugby union team and was tossing around the idea of juggling both sports. To continue to be eligible for union at the time Lewis needed to maintain his amateur status and thus couldn’t receive financial incentives.


‘It depends on my league commitments, but I am still hoping to fit in a few games of union and this is the main reason I am playing for nothing,’ 18-year-old Lewis told reporter David Falkenmire. ‘The tour with the schoolboys had a tremendous influence on me and I almost made up my mind to stick with union. But somehow I finished up back down at Valleys, the club I have been associated with since U13s.’


Any attempt to paint Lewis as a union convert is dishonest: rugby league was in his veins. His father Jim played first grade for Wests Panthers and Souths Magpies, typically at wing or fullback. Jim coached Wynnum’s first premiership-winning senior team (C grade in 1972) and also coached young Wally in first grade at Valleys. Such was Jim’s devotion he even played with the lower-tier Normanby Hounds in the Shift Workers League.


Wally’s mother June was a highly talented athlete who represented Queensland in netball.


Furthermore, Wally’s uncle Jack Ballinger represented Brisbane in league, while younger brothers Scott and Heath also played first grade. It’s a common theme throughout this book: many players had a father who coached and a mother and other family members with elite-level athleticism. ‘My playing career kicked off in the Cannon Hill Stars under-8s,’ Lewis explained in Steve Haddan’s Our Game. ‘Most winter weekends were spent either as a spectator at any of the Brisbane club grounds or at home listening to legendary commentator George Lovejoy calling the action on radio.’


Lewis was raised in inner-city Hawthorne, schooled at Cannon Hill State School and Brisbane State High, which led to his dalliance with union. One of the greatest unwritten chapters in rugby league is what could have occurred if Lewis had joined Souths, based a short walk from his school. Instead, he helped steer Valleys to a 26-0 win against the Wayne Bennett–coached Souths Magpies in the 1979 Brisbane rugby league grand final. Lewis was then just 19 and playing lock in a Diehards team that contained Chris Close (FOG 5) at centre. The defeated Souths team contained Mal Meninga (FOG 4), Bruce Astill (FOG 15), Bob Kellaway (FOG 27) and Dave Brown (FOG 33) and was played a year before State of Origin began.


As Jack Gallaway noted in Origin, Lewis had the rare distinction of jumping straight from U18s to A grade at Valleys, circumventing U20s, U23s and B and C grades. His versatility saw him selected at halfback for Queensland in the 1980 interstate series (played under residency grounds) but picked at lock in Origin the same year.


In Out of the Shadows, in which Lewis detailed struggles with epilepsy, depression and suicidal thoughts, he revealed he was affected in his youth by an incident involving his younger brother Eddie: ‘Eddie had been given 24 hours to live for several consecutive weeks after a car accident that killed two of his mates,’ Lewis stated. ‘Luckily he pulled through.’


Lewis was named in memory of his great-uncle Walter James Lewis (1889-1918), who was killed during the First World War while serving in Palestine with the 11th Australian Light Horse Regiment. ‘Every time I go to Canberra I go back to the war memorial, digging more up, taking photographs,’ Lewis told Trent Dalton of The Australian. ‘These guys were living in shit, freezing, laying around in mud. Not just for a couple of hours, but days, to claim a damn hill they’re probably going to lose the next day.’











FOG 10. ROD REDDY: 
‘I JUST GOT ON WITH IT’


One Origin: 1980





Reddy lost his father Steve when he was eight due to a heart attack. He shrugged when asked whether that painful moment, which left him the youngest of nine children, distilled his determination to succeed: ‘I just got on with it,’ Reddy said. ‘In those days you brushed things off and kept going. I left school to be a scaffolder at 15. We didn’t have money, but we had good values.’


Raised in Rockhampton, Rod came from a family renowned for rugby league ability. Older brother Len represented Queensland in juniors, while brothers John and Alan were also decent players. Although Rod doesn’t like to highlight the disadvantages his family faced, he said he chose to play with Rockhampton Brothers after his dad died because ‘it was the closest and we didn’t have a car’. His other brothers played for Rockhampton Norths.


Rod’s nephew, long-serving Queensland state politician Sterling Hinchliffe, spoke in parliament in 2006 about the Herculean efforts of Alice Reddy, Rod’s mother: ‘She was a very ordinary Queenslander. Yet, like so many others of her generation, she achieved extraordinary things upon which our state is built. She managed a bustling home, including caring for my Uncle Cliff, who lives with Down syndrome, right up until her death. She also contributed as a community volunteer through the trinity of Rockhampton organisations she attended and baked for: the Mothers’ Union, the Country Women’s Association and the women’s branch of the Australian Labor Party. She was a loving, resourceful and giving matriarch.’


Rod, who grew up as a fan of record-setting tennis professional ‘Rockhampton Rocket’ Rod Laver, also enjoyed soccer and cricket and the close friendship of Queensland rugby leagure player Ron Milne, who lived nearby. From playing backyard football together, they eventually became opponents in 1976 when Rod was signed by the St George Dragons and represented New South Wales under the old residency rules before State of Origin began. Both players wore jersey number 14.











FOG 11. ROHAN HANCOCK: 
THE BUSH PROP WHO HATED BEER


Five Origins: 1980-82





About the only Origin back story more unbelievable than Rohan Hancock’s is that of his daughter Stephanie, but let’s begin with Rohan and his rise from the bush to play at a packed Lang Park in the first State of Origin fixture. Hancock’s mum Mildred came from tiny Emu Vale, a southern Darling Downs location where houses were counted by the dozen, and his father Roland was from nearby Killarney, a town of less than 1,000 people.


When Hancock’s family owned the local abattoir they employed 200 people, making it a bustling hive in the region. ‘My grandfather was a butcher, then my father as well,’ Hancock said. ‘There was a point when my father decided to build a small abattoir that grew into one of the biggest in the state. We had blokes that worked for us for 30 years until we sold out.’ A resident of Killarney all his life, Hancock said the area was famed for its green countryside, waterfalls and picturesque views. 


The idyllic setting and a devotion to family were the reasons he rejected advances to relocate, knocking back approaches to join top-flight clubs in Sydney and Brisbane. Instead, he opted to play solely with Southern Downs clubs Wattles, Warwick Collegians and Warwick Eastern Suburbs. ‘My dad was a halfback for Killarney and my uncle Ernie Hancock was a very good centre in the Toowoomba Rugby League,’ Rohan said. ‘A lot of folks say Ernie could have gone further, but he had John Gleeson [an Australian representative player] ahead of him. I’d actually say I got my easy-going side from my father and the determined side from my mother.’ Mildred played competitive tennis even as a grandmother, pairing with Rohan’s second daughter Stephanie to contest doubles titles.


Although Rohan elected to stay in Killarney, he was the last of the breed to be picked from country clubs to represent his state and nation. To be selected for Queensland he had to first make the Toowoomba representative team and then the Queensland Country team: ‘The first time I played for Queensland [pre-Origin in 1978] I lost 10 kilograms in the first week of training,’ Hancock told Robert Craddock of The Courier-Mail.


Hancock’s pride in his children ushered in the next chapter of his story, with his daughters Kirsten and Stephanie and son Joshua all exhibiting an aptitude for the game. Joshua was once voted Most Consistent for a Brisbane Broncos U19s side that included a multitude of future NRL and representative players. Stephanie became the Queensland and Australian women’s skipper, and two incidents from her own upbringing are essential to complete the story of this record-setting father-daughter combination.


As a nine year old Stephanie was thrust into a boy’s game after Killarney had been well beaten a week prior and was short of players. She plaited her hair, put headgear on and proceeded to score four tries and two goals, also making a string of impressive cover tackles along the way as Killarney secured victory. ‘A guy came over and said: “That boy will play rep footy one day. Mark my words,”’ recalled proud father Rohan. ‘And I said: “That’s my daughter.” She really kicked arse.’


The second formative moment came when Steph, who was the Australian javelin champion in her teens, organised a fundraiser game to kick-start women’s rugby league and put some money back into the region. ‘There was a drought in Killarney, so I organised a game of footy between two local groups,’ Steph told qrl.com.au. ‘I went down to the pub and grabbed the roughest females I could find and signed them up. I went to the abattoir and there were a couple of rough girls up there too. I made my sister, two cousins and the hairdresser all play footy for the community: our little community. It was good fun. My cousin got knocked out. It was pretty fiery.’ The event raised $10,000 and Steph’s sibling Kirsten ended up scoring two tries. 


Famous for his love of a good feed, Rohan, the strongly built cattle buyer, said he never drank alcohol or smoked after having half a glass of beer in his youth and deciding he didn’t like the taste.











FOG 12. JOHN LANG: 
SPURNING THE LURE OF THE SURF


One Origin: 1980





John Lang’s father Bill served in the Australian army in both North Africa and New Guinea during the Second World War. He moved from his native state of Victoria to Queensland to complete his service, laying the platform for a Maroon dynasty that included not only his son but also grandson Martin Lang (FOG 109).


‘War was something that completely changed their lives at the time,’ Lang said. ‘My dad was not much of one to talk about the past on any subject, but he did occasionally offer a few comical observations of his time in the military. In general, though, Dad was someone who moved on with life in all regards.’


Though his father played a fair bit of Australian rules football in Victoria, John said he was supportive when his sons chose a different code – as was his mother Minnie, who came from Eidsvold and continued to play tennis almost to the age of 70.


John can vividly remember backyard games with his two older brothers Richard and Roy and watching Roy play in particular. ‘My first memory of playing was getting a blood nose,’ laughed John. ‘But rugby league was something I just fell in love with straight away. It seemed such a natural thing to me. I picked up a ball and away I went.


‘There was a big clearing in bushland near where we lived and everyone from the neighbourhood would be there playing rugby league. Kids were aged from eight to 14 and everybody just mixed in together. Another mate had a big backyard and you scored by diving into the gardens at either end. You’d get in trouble for knocking over the tomato bushes.’


Lang went to Coorparoo State School and Camp Hill State High, not playing club football for Easts Tigers until he was 14. He started out as a second rower then was thrust into the hooker position later in his teens when he didn’t grow at the same rate as others. He left school to start as an electrician at age 15, and by the time he played his first game for Queensland in 1972 in the pre-Origin period he had finished his apprenticeship.


Like Origin teammate Bruce Astill (FOG 15), Lang joined Kurrawa Surf Club in his teens and was almost lured away by the sun and the sand. ‘I used to hitch-hike from Logan Road down to the Gold Coast. It wasn’t unusual in those days,’ John said. ‘When I was 17 I was actually really struggling for motivation to keep going with rugby league because I was going to the coast every weekend. I’ve always loved the beach and the surf. Some of my fondest memories are of visiting my grandparents at Tweed Heads.


‘Then my  U17s coach Jack Atkin gave me a big serve before a game about how I was going, so I went out and really ripped into the opposition. At the time I thought, “I showed that old so-and-so”, but by the time training came around a few days later I realised he’d got the exact reaction he was looking for. It dawned on me that if I was going to stay with the sport and do something I had to lift my act.’


Another prompt from Atkin, who was also the president of Easts Seniors and an influential figure, that season gave reason for Lang’s further contemplation about his future: ‘He simply asked us who had thought of playing first grade. It was a fair enough question at age 17, but the truth was it hadn’t crossed my mind until then,’ said Lang. ‘From that I became determined it was something I wanted to do. A good friend of mine, his oldest brother was almost 20 years older than him and we’d grown up going to his games, so my sports heroes were basically the Easts Tigers senior teams.’


Lang played 19 games for Queensland before State of Origin began and one game for New South Wales when he was signed to Sydney Easts. Tragically, in his early 20s Lang lost both of his brothers in separate car accidents 15 months apart, something he said ‘never really left me’.











FOG 13. ROD MORRIS: 
DISCIPLINED HABITS EMBEDDED EARLY


Four Origins: 1980-82





Bread and milk runs starting at 3 am were the making of Rod Morris and his older brother Des, a decorated Queensland player in the pre-Origin years. Their father, Arthur, delivered the daily food staples after exiting the Royal Australian Air Force. ‘Our holidays as kids were spent working with him,’ Rod said. ‘That taught me to be a self-starter, follow a daily routine, and if you’ve got a job get it done. I learned to count money, learned to communicate with different people and look after customers.’


Arthur was a drover in Charleville, then he moved to Amberley Airbase near Ipswich to serve. Although he served in the air force during the Second World War, he was an engineer and wasn’t deployed overseas. After the war he met and married Matilda, who had also been raised in Charleville. ‘I think they had a hard life growing up. That’s how life was at the time,’ Rod said. ‘Dad was from a family of 15, Mum was from a family of eight.’


Rod’s league journey started with Ipswich club West End, then nearby Booval Swifts prior to joining the Easts Tigers in Brisbane. Two years younger than Des, a Queensland representative from 1969 to 1979 and future Queensland Origin coach in 1985, Rod had a tough act to follow. He rose to the task, figuring in 17 interstate matches and making 16 appearances for Australia. ‘Following Des was a challenge: everything he did was high level,’ Rod said. ‘It wasn’t a burden. He was setting the pace and inspiring me.’


In 1979, the year before Origin began, Rod played for New South Wales on residency grounds (he was contracted to Balmain). Des opposed him for Queensland. The pair reunited in 1982 when Rod captained Wynnum Manly and Des coached, winning a Brisbane premiership.


Rod later became a successful McDonald’s restaurant franchisee. ‘McDonald’s is similar to a team: you need committed people, you need leaders, you need people capable of following orders,’ he said.











FOG 14. NORM CARR: 
NO ROOM FOR SOOKS


Four Origins (didn’t take the field in one game): 1980-82





When Carr’s father Vic returned from the Korean War he tried to make a better life for his family on the smell of an oily rag, and hitch-hiked from the family home at Inala to work at a Woolloongabba timber yard each day. ‘It was hard times. Dad didn’t have a car and we lived in Housing Commission,’ Norm said. ‘But that was a different era and he wouldn’t have been the only one to hitch-hike to work. We all survived. It wasn’t as bad as some places in the world where people die trying to make a living.’


Norm was born in Sydney and moved to Queensland around his first birthday. He followed his father into work with the same timber company – Hancock and Gore – when he left school. Although Carr is strongly associated with Brisbane’s Western Suburbs Panthers and his photo sits above the bar at Wests Mitchelton juniors, he played for three clubs before those days. He first started at Souths Inala, as they were known, then now-defunct Souths Darra and finally Souths Sunnybank before Mitchelton.


Younger brother Wayne was also talented, representing Queensland pre-Origin in 1979. ‘Wayne did his ACL [anterior cruciate ligament] twice and that was basically the end of him,’ Norm said.


Much of Carr’s tuition came at Elizabeth Bruce Park in Inala, where local children played informally. ‘It was all ages, and if you whinged you got a kick up the bum,’ recalled Carr. ‘I took the attitude that you didn’t sook; you just got on with the job.’ Carr was headhunted to finish juniors with Wests Mitchelton in a star-studded U18s team including John Ribot (FOG 123), Shane Dyson and Gary Prickett. After making top grade at Wests, Norm debuted for Queensland in 1976, the first of 11 non-Origin appearances for the state on top of his four in Origin.











FOG 15. BRUCE ASTILL: 
STEPPING UP FROM STRUGGLE STREET


Two Origins (didn’t take the field in one game): 1980 and 1983





Bruce’s father Jack was president of Southern Suburbs Juniors when the club set up base at Acacia Ridge in Brisbane’s south, relocating from previous inner-city location West End. Jack’s first love was cricket, and it’s believed his sole reason for becoming involved with Souths Juniors was to support sons Lex, Keith and Bruce.


A French polisher who became general manager of a furniture factory, Jack married Aileen after she relocated from Dorrigo, New South Wales, to Brisbane via the Gold Coast. ‘Back then I’d say 90 per cent of people who lived in Acacia Ridge were on Struggle Street,’ Bruce said. ‘We were battlers. We didn’t have two cents to our name and there were no luxuries, but we were always clothed and had food on the table.’ Bruce shared lifts to training and games with his teammates because his family didn’t have a car; his parents caught trams and buses or walked to watch him play.


While he earned renown in rugby league – he was named by Mal Meninga (FOG 4) in The Courier-Mail as one of his five favourite footballers of the 1970s – Bruce almost gave it away to pursue surf life-saving with Kurrawa Surf Club. ‘I don’t think I ever took football seriously,’ said Astill, who once worked for the same company as childhood hero Reg Gasnier, ‘but I bet most players are going to tell you football was their love and the glue that held everything in their life together.’


Despite being surrounded by great coaches and athletes, his greatest influence remained father Jack even into adulthood. ‘He wasn’t the type of dad who would stand over you and tell you what to do,’ Bruce said. ‘He influenced you with his presence, his actions and his guidance. As an adult, I still went back to him many times to get his thoughts on different situations.’











FOG 16. MITCH BRENNAN: 
AN ATTRACTION TO ADVENTURE


Four Origins: 1981-83





A nomadic childhood that included 12 different primary schools, following a father who lived a life straight from an action film script, set the scene for one of the Maroons’ most colourful early players. Brennan’s father Jack went from being in the navy to the police force to the army, and struggled with alcohol addiction as a result of his experiences.


‘He was involved in nuclear testing and urban commandos in New Guinea, and he knew about a few of the cops later mixed up in the Fitzgerald Inquiry [concerning police corruption and misconduct],’ Mitch said. ‘He was a boxer, and after surviving the Second World War he laid the groundwork for operations in the Malayan and Vietnam wars in the days before Prozac [an antidepressant]. I never knew my father any other way than self-medicating with alcohol. 


‘He didn’t mind delivering a backhander. I knew deep down that he loved us, but I wouldn’t do a lot of the things he used to do. Nowadays you wouldn’t get away with what he did, but I never considered it an abusive relationship. He shaped my behaviour.’


Mitch sprang from an eclectic ethnic mix, his father’s side being Irish and his mother Phyllis’s side Spanish, and was the second youngest of seven children. West End, where Brennan’s maternal grandparents’ house was located and where he would play his first senior football for Souths Magpies, was the one constant location in his youth. Otherwise, his father’s commitments saw the family flit between places such as Enoggera, Mitchelton, Charleville, Cunnamulla, Redcliffe, New Guinea and Bald Hills.


‘I remember being named school captain at Bald Hills and it was the first time I had sense of achievement,’ said Brennan. ‘Until then, a common observation on my report cards was that I wasn’t performing at my capacity. I was an average student. I would be one of the smarter kids at one school, then we’d move to another school and I’d find I was way behind what they were learning, then before I had a chance to catch up we’d move again.


‘It’s interesting because I work in behavioural management now, and while your behaviours can change with time your personality is set in stone by the time you are seven or eight. I was forever leaving friends behind; I know for a fact my sociability score is very low. I’m someone who is happy to be on my own, to read or travel by myself.’


Brennan admitted there was little doubt that the rollercoaster ride of his youth contributed to some of his behaviours in early adulthood: an appetite for adventure and always seeking new things. He rode a motorbike, played guitar and sang in a rock band in his late teens, trialled with professional Canadian gridiron team Toronto Argonauts when he was 21 and was sensationally fined for playing a St George trial under the false name ‘Mickey Lane’ at age 24.


He later gained a pilot’s licence, enlisted in the Army Reserves, pursued ambitions to fly helicopters and was chief executive of Souths. He long maintained an interest in acting, film and storytelling and contemplated becoming a decathlete and pentathlete. ‘I like having a challenge,’ Brennan admitted. ‘I’m not motivated by money; I’m motivated by achievement.’


The group dynamics of team sport and the outlet that rugby league provided Brennan were not lost on the man himself. He admitted as much, as he enjoyed the sport for its physical nature and the social aspects helped guide him through uncertain times. ‘Because I had to play in so many different places growing up, I found it a great vehicle for establishing social status,’ he said. ‘At one school I would tell them I was a halfback, and at the next school I’d tell them I was a hooker. Wherever I knew there was a vacancy in the team I’d put my hand up to play there.


‘One of the good things rugby league does is allow you to establish trust very quickly. You build trust, develop a relationship where you can challenge each other, hold each other accountable then improve together.’











FOG 17. ROSS HENRICK: 
NOT SO ANGRY AFTER ALL


Three Origins (did not take the field in one game): 1981, 1983 and 1984





Known commonly as the ‘Angry Ant’, Ross Henrick had many more aspects to his character than his feisty moniker conveyed. While his widow Tina said Henrick was ‘like a dog with a bone’ and fiercely determined, she also said he had a much gentler side to his personality and was a wonderful father and quietly spoken at home. Henrick’s love of coaching and his enviable success rate grew out of his willingness to help others, with son Trent remembering him as ‘always going to help people or giving somebody a lift’.


Before he came to be known to rugby league fans Ross commenced his education at St James College at Spring Hill, the oldest Catholic boys’ school in Queensland. However, he was not an eager student and soon transferred to Northgate State School, followed by Banyo State High. ‘Ross didn’t think much of school,’ said older brother Allan, a former Redcliffe Dolphins player. ‘Our dad would take him all the way into the Valley so he could attend class, and Ross would just walk down to Brunswick Street and catch the train back home.’


Ross’s father Albert had been in the army but was not deployed due to being colour blind. He later worked as a clerk at Newstead Wharves, and was remembered as somebody who never drank, smoked or swore. Mother Kathleen was descended from Edward Moran, an early rugby league administrator in Brisbane’s north, and was involved in the Women’s Auxiliary Australian Air Force and the trade union movement. ‘That side of Ross’s family was very political,’ Tina recalled. ‘His eldest brother Ken worked as the press secretary for Kim Beazley Snr [a prominent Labor Party politician and federal Minister for Education]. He was quite the academic.’


While Albert Henrick was a keen soccer enthusiast, his four sons Ken, Allan, Ross and Warren were all besotted with rugby league and would regularly host games in their backyard for local children: ‘Ross was in amongst it from a very young age,’ remembered Allan. ‘He was only ever a little fella, especially then. I think getting knocked around back then developed his toughness.


‘When we weren’t playing football, sometimes we used to drag him around in one of those vintage metal pedal cars. It was all good until you came to a corner. Ross would go end over end and end up on the ground, body stiff and with his eyes rolling in the back of his head. I thought we gave him brain damage at one stage, but he’d jump up, shake his head and go back for more.’


Ross bounced between clubs in both juniors and seniors, and although commonly referred to as a Norths or Valleys player he also spent time with Brothers in his youth and Redcliffe at the start of his senior career. It was while at Redcliffe and playing C grade in his late teens that Ross met Tina, who was a cheerleader for the Dolphins. After winning a reserve grade premiership with Redcliffe in 1979 he returned to Norths in 1980 to win an A grade premiership alongside Mark Murray (FOG 22).


He played three interstate games for Queensland on residency grounds before getting an opportunity to play Origin. ‘He was a real terrier, always taking someone on. Ross was a terrific bloke, a 100 per cent competitor and great clubman,’ recalled Murray.


Unfortunately, a year after his Origin debut Ross lost his father Albert to a stroke and two heart attacks, the latter being what also claimed Ross prematurely in 2005 at the age of 50. His brother Allan, who underwent a triple bypass operation himself, echoed the sentiments of many by saying ‘He was gone too soon.’


In the years after he retired from playing Henrick coached Valleys to three Brisbane Rugby League premierships, and between the years of 1993 and 1999 he made Wavell State High a force to be reckoned with in national schoolboy competitions.











FOG 18. CHRIS PHELAN: 
DESPAIR TURNS TO DRIVE


Two Origins: 1981 and 1984





It’s one of the most heartbreaking and remarkable Origin back stories: from the depths of despair Chris Phelan repeatedly hauled himself to the top of the mountain.


Born into abject poverty in the tiny village of Borris-in-Ossory in central Ireland, Phelan left behind the world as he knew it in 1967 when aged 12 to travel to Australia by boat. A voyage of six weeks by sea ensued, and parents Michael and Rose thought they’d won the lottery when they arrived in tropical Townsville with their six children.


Docking in the Canary Islands, South Africa and Fremantle, Western Australia along the way, they came to Queensland with no experience in either rugby code. ‘I’ll be honest: we lived very, very poorly in Ireland,’ Chris said. ‘We had no running water and we’d bring water by buckets to fill a tub outside if we wanted a wash. You’d come to the end of the week and be left with some bread and jam to eat.


‘I’m not trying to make it sound worse than it was; this was the reality of it. The furthest I travelled in quite a while was 12 miles sitting on the handlebars of my father’s pushbike when we went to my grandfather’s funeral. We didn’t have a car to go elsewhere.’ Phelan, a George Best fan throughout his younger years, had never been in a boat and had only seen the sea once before leaving Ireland. When his family arrived they knew barely a soul and the children were teased for their accents.


Devastatingly, after having the courage to make the shift Michael died of a heart attack at age 39 and two years into his Australian adventure. It left the family struggling and Rose with half a dozen children to keep in check.


‘Mum showed a lot of courage. We were little shits to deal with,’ Phelan offered. ‘I was terrible for drinking when I was young: [I was] a shocking drunk always in fights. I couldn’t handle my alcohol. Luckily I had a neighbour, an ex-army fella called Jeff Cappler, who spent years helping me by passing me a rugby league ball and fine-tuning other things. He went above and beyond to help set up the basis for the rest of my life. Jeff Cappler was the father I didn’t have, and my wife and the game of rugby league became my saving graces.’ Because of wife Karen, who Chris met while playing for the Estates club at the age of 17, he gave up drinking completely for seven years.


Chris and older brother Pat immersed themselves in their newfound passion of rugby league, eventually combining in 1974 at Townsville Souths and in 1975 winning a Townsville premiership together. Pat soon after departed for Brisbane Souths to try his luck on the big stage, playing under a young Wayne Bennett, while Chris remained in Townsville.


‘The person who gave me the greatest motivation was the old representative selector Charlie Montgomery, who told me “Don’t you try and follow your brother”,’ Chris recounted. ‘He said: “Don’t go down to Brisbane because you’re just a thug. You won’t make it.” I was shocked. He was right to a degree. Patty was a more skilful footballer than me and I played the game hard, but it spurred me on to prove Charlie wrong. Any time when I thought I was struggling I’d picture Charlie saying those words.’


With a bee in his bonnet, Chris planned to join Pat in Brisbane to try to snare a Brisbane Rugby League premiership and maybe, just maybe, win a contract with their favourite club Parramatta. ‘Then Patty drowned in 1979,’ remembered Chris. ‘A few other players took a boat out on the Brisbane River and the motor stopped, so Patty jumped in, disappeared and was washed downstream. I think they lost him on a Thursday and didn’t find his body until the Sunday. It was a full-scale search patrol. That rattled me hard.’


Inspired by his brother’s memory, Chris went on to win a premiership and Rothmans Medal with Souths in 1981, earned a Queensland jersey then played in three straight grand finals for Parramatta, winning two. 











FOG 19. PAUL MCCABE: 
NO TOYING AROUND


Five Origins: 1981-82 and 1985





Imagine popping down to your local toy store and bumping into a State of Origin forward manning the aisles. Before he was a Maroons and Australian representative, Paul McCabe worked in Myer’s department store at Chermside supervising the toy section. ‘It was a tough economy then, so I took whatever job I could get,’ McCabe said. ‘I didn’t have a car licence, but they got me to drive a truck full of toys to be unloaded. I was crunching gears something terrible. I didn’t have a clue how to drive a car, let alone a truck. I bluffed my way.’


McCabe’s father Joe was a police sergeant and his housewife mother Winnie was described as being the ‘sweetest, most lovely woman’. Paul’s childhood was filled with pursuits of a bygone era, ‘making spears and slingshots, jumping in creeks and running through the bush’. One of six brothers, Paul’s family was steeped in rugby league pedigree (his brother John also represented Queensland pre-Origin) yet he didn’t play club football until he was aged 16, preferring backyard and schoolyard footy. He also refused to play for Valleys, the club his brothers represented.


‘I was a shy kid,’ McCabe recalled. ‘My brother took me down to Emerson Park to sign me up for Valleys when I was 12. I represented Queensland U12s in rugby union but disliked meeting new kids. I refused to get out of the car when we arrived. I only joined Norths Devils when I was 16 because Gary Bishop [the son of British Test halfback Tommy Bishop] was a mate and invited me down.’ 


Born in Toowoomba, Paul was raised briefly in Pittsworth before moving to Brisbane and living at Kelvin Grove and later Wavell Heights. He attended Padua College, going to school with Paul Vautin (FOG 24). After retiring from rugby league, McCabe chalked up 30-plus years as the managing director of various companies.











FOG 20. PAUL KHAN: 
GENGHIS GETS HIS REVENGE


Four Origins: 1981-82





Queensland failed to score a single point in three games against New South Wales in 1973, the first time Khan was drafted into a Maroons squad (pre-Origin). The state was coming off losses of 0-16 and 0-10 in the first two matches of the series and was hoping for better fortunes for game three when 22-year-old Khan was handed his debut. The result was a disappointing 0-26 defeat, marking the first time Queensland had been kept scoreless throughout an entire season. To make matters even less palatable, Khan’s opposition front rower in the humbling 1973 loss was Arthur Beetson (FOG 1), a Queenslander playing for the Blues due to the former residency rules.


Khan was given plenty of time to stew over the result: it would be his one and only Queensland appearance throughout the 1970s. By the time State of Origin commenced in the 1980s Khan was toward the end of his career and consequently many Origin history books do not reflect the quality of his contributions in his earlier playing days.


Not only that, but several gross inaccuracies about the reclusive forward have been reproduced. The most disturbing falsities were scattered reports of his death, repeated in the media. However, when his family was interviewed on the day of his 69th birthday on 23 June 2020 he was alive and well. His birth year of 1951 has also been erroneously noted elsewhere as 1952 or 1953. Even Khan would have seen humour in Wikipedia briefly listing him as the brother of former cricketing great and Pakistani prime minister Imran Khan.


What can be established as fact is that Khan – nicknamed ‘Genghis’ throughout his career – was a local Easts junior who came through the Tigers’ underage ranks at the same time as Bruce Walker (FOG 25) and only a year behind John Lang (FOG 12). His debut in A grade as an 18 year old in 1970 was described as one of the highlights of an otherwise disappointing season for Easts. Most impressively, in every season that followed for Khan in Queensland he led his teams towards finals.


Between 1971 and 1973 the aggressive ball-playing forward took on much more experienced rivals as the Tigers qualified for the top four each year. The pièce de résistance was undoubtedly the 1972 Brisbane Rugby League (BRL) premiership win for Easts, secured 16-15 by a Jeff Fyfe field goal in the final minute – a spectacle that ranks with the best grand finals in any competition.


‘Despite an all-ticket limit of 35,000 for the grand final [at Lang Park] more than 40,000 saw the match, with at least 3000 fans spilling onto the field inside the boundary fence, racing on to embrace players when tries were scored,’ Steve Haddan wrote in Our Game. Haddan noted that BRL crowds were up a ‘whopping 40 per cent on the previous season’ of 1972, describing it as being in the midst of the ‘glory days’. Easts’ first premiership in 22 years broke a stranglehold by Valleys, with the Diehards winning in 1970, 1971, 1973 and 1974.


When Khan switched to Norths Devils in 1974 success followed and his new side finished minor premiers, winning 16 of 21 games in the regular season although they were unable to claim the premiership. In the midst of his career Khan spent seven years at Cronulla, playing in the drawn 1978 New South Wales rugby league final between the Sharks and Manly and the 0-16 loss in the replay.


Khan was forced to wear the blue of New South Wales once in 1978 (due to residency rules) but returned to Easts Tigers in 1982. While Easts didn’t make the BRL finals in 1982 they did take out the Winfield State League, beating Redcliffe in the decider after Khan had scored a decisive try in the preliminary final a week before.


Curiously enough, Khan switched to Redcliffe in the following season of 1983 but lost the grand final to his old club. ‘Dad’s someone who has preferred watching from the sidelines since he hung up his boots rather than talking about it,’ daughter Morgan said of her father’s disappearance from the public eye thereafter.











FOG 21. GREG CONESCU: 
THE ROMANIAN REFUGEE


Twenty Origins: 1981 and 1983-88





Although five people tried to flee Soviet Romania at the same time, only Greg Conescu’s father succeeded. ‘At 19 he escaped Romania by swimming across the Danube River. He had a drum strapped to his back and stored all his possessions there,’ Conescu related. ‘He was the youngest of the five who set out.’


Conescu believes his father travelled overland to Italy before choosing between ships bound for both the USA and Australia. Upon arrival in Australia he changed his name from Marcel to Mark. ‘Dad spoke English really well; he assimilated,’ said Greg. ‘He was a passionate follower of rugby league and worked as a fitter and turner for Olympic Tyres. He did well for himself. We lived in Nundah, but he built a second house at Coolum Beach in 1966 and spent money wisely. He didn’t drink much, didn’t smoke and was pretty thrifty . . . just a good all-round bloke really.’


It’s easy to see how the Conescus became entrenched with the Norths Devils. Greg’s parents’ home was on Amelia Street, Nundah and his grandparents lived in Franklin Street; the intersection of those streets is where the entrance to Bishop Park can be found.


Curiously, Greg played his first junior football for sister club St Joseph’s in the days when their grounds were located at Boyd Park, tucked behind Nundah State School, and switched to Norths Juniors around the time he went to high school. His parents became regulars at the clubhouse right through until Greg played A grade and State of Origin.


‘They didn’t go there to drink. They’d go for a meal together and because they’d become such football people,’ Greg remembered. ‘Unfortunately, we lost Mum in 1984 when I was only 24. She had a brain tumour and it was all over six to nine months from the diagnosis. It was pretty devastating.’











FOG 22. MARK MURRAY: 
MUPPET LEAVES HOME TO MAKE HIS MARK


Fifteen Origins: 1981-86





A lifetime of memories and accomplishments in elite sport would have evaded Mark ‘Muppet’ Murray if he had stuck to his original plan of returning to the sleepy Darling Downs town of Millmerran, where his family had lived for generations. ‘I was going to do three years of teacher’s college in Brisbane and go home,’ Murray said.


Murray’s mother Irene came from a dairy farm on one side of town, and his grandfather and father Kevin worked in cypress timber on the other side of town. ‘Even I used to spend every school holiday working with timber,’ Murray recalled. ‘It was hard, physical work for a kid. It taught me that I didn’t want to do it forever. But in saying that, my family were battlers, they were resilient and I saw them working hard for what they got.’


Gifted at both schoolwork and sport, the long-haired Murray made his senior rugby league debut for the obscure Millmerran Rams at age 16. He played lock or second row throughout most of his junior career but switched to the halves for senior football. In his A grade debut he remembered going head to head with established representative star Alan Smith (FOG 7), who played for local rivals Toowoomba Valleys. Such was the beauty of the times, when a kid from a two-horse town could play a state representative player in his district competition.


‘I came through in a fluke year. Millmerran didn’t have a bad side at all, with some decent players. Sometimes it just works out that way, for whatever reason,’ Murray said. ‘Beyond that, the whole Toowoomba area was reasonably strong. There were a lot of guys up to Brisbane Rugby League standard but who were locked into taking care of the family farm that had been passed down for generations. I didn’t know at the time, but having the courage to get out of Millmerran was crucial to me. Had I not held a desire for higher education or an aptitude for footy I’d still be there. I’m not saying it’s a bad thing to live in the bush, but you also need to pursue your passions.’
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